IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED SID J. WHITE AUG 3 1995 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By Chief Deputy Clerk

RUSSELL CALAMIA,

Petitioner,

vs.

DOCKET NO.: 84,088

HARRY K. SINGLETARY, JR. Secretary, Florida Department of Corrections,

Respondent.

INITIAL AMENDED BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON REMAND FROM THE UNITED STATES SUPREME COURT

R. Mitchell Prugh, Esq. Florida Bar Number 935980 Middleton, Prugh & Edmonds, P.A. 303 State Road 26 Melrose, Florida 32666 (904) 475-1611 (telephone) (904) 475-5968 (facsimile) Attorney for Petitioner

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On July 27, 1994 the Petitioner filed a petition for writ of habeas corpus before this Court. This Court denied the petition for a writ of habeas corpus on September 15, 1994. *Calamia v. Singletary*, 645 So. 2d 450 (Fla. 1994) (table).

Petitioner then filed a petition for certiorari review of this Court's order with the United States Supreme Court. That Court summarily vacated this Court's order and judgment without briefing and remanded for reconsideration in light of its 1995 *California Department of Corrections v. Morales* decision. *Calamia v. Singletary*, 115 S. Ct. 1995, 131 L. Ed. 2d 998 (1995) (memorandum decision).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The verified petition for habeas corpus alleges the following facts.¹

On or about January 28, 1986, Petitioner was charged by indictment with one count of first degree murder, a capital felony punishable by life imprisonment or death, allegedly committed on January 3, 1986. In December of 1987 a jury was selected for Petitioner's trial and the trial began shortly thereafter.

The state attorney and Petitioner's trial attorney held extended plea negotiations before and during trial. During trial, the state attorney offered to reduce the charge to one count of second degree murder in exchange for Petitioner's plea of *nolo contendere*. In explaining this offer, Petitioner's trial attorney explicitly assured Petitioner that he would be eligible to earn administrative gain-time and "good time" which would be applied to reduce his sentence after Petitioner completed any minimum mandatory portion of Petitioner's sentence.

Based on his trial counsel's assurances, Petitioner agreed to enter a plea of *nolo contendere* to second degree murder. Petitioner materially relied on his future eligibility for administrative gain-

¹ The undenied allegations in a verified petition for habeas corpus are assumed true. *State v. Coleman*, 149 Fla. 28, 5 So. 2d 60, 61 (1941); *Ex parte Hyde*, 140 Fla. 494, 192 So. 159, 160 (1939); *Skipper v. Schumacher*, 124 Fla. 384, 169 So. 58, 65, *cert. denied*, 296 U.S. 578, 56 S. Ct. 88, 80 L. Ed. 408 (1936).

time and a possibility of a decreased sentence under section 944.276, Florida Statutes (1987) in deciding to agree to enter a plea of *nolo contendere*.

1

On December 10, 1987, the Circuit Court of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit, Brevard County, Florida, accepted the negotiated plea under which the petitioner pleaded *nolo contendere* to second degree murder.

On January 14, 1988 the trial court sentenced Petitioner to a term of incarceration of twenty years, including a three year minimum mandatory sentence for use of a firearm. Petitioner was accredited with 250 days towards his sentence for time previously served.

Petitioner is currently confined at Polk Correctional Institution pursuant to that judgment and sentence.

There are no other sentences, concurrent or consecutive, pending against Petitioner. Petitioner was eligible at the time of his conviction for administrative gain-time under section 944.276, Florida Statutes (1987), excluding the three year minimum mandatory portion of the sentence.

Section 944.276(1) Florida Statutes provided that when the inmate population reached 98 percent of lawful capacity the Secretary of the Department of Corrections ("DOC") had authority to award up to 60 days administrative gain-time to all inmates who were earning incentive gain-time. The DOC Secretary awarded

administrative gain-time to all eligible DOC inmates from February 16, 1987 until June 30, 1988.

٠

On June 18, 1988 the Florida Legislature repealed section 944.276 and substituted the Provisional Credits Act, Chapter 88-122, Laws of Florida (codified, as amended, at § 944.277, *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1988)). The 1988 Act lowered the triggering percentage from 98 percent to 97.5 percent and required the DOC to give credits to all eligible inmates earning incentive gain time. The DOC immediately began awarding provisional credits and continued doing so.

On May 8, 1990 Petitioner completed his three year minimum mandatory sentence and the DOC began to award Petitioner both incentive gain time for meritorious behavior and provisional credits under the 1988 Provisional Credits Act.

The DOC awarded Petitioner a total of 420 days (1 year, 1 month and 25 days) provisional credits between May 8, 1990 and January 1991 in addition to Petitioner's accrued incentive gain time. Petitioner's provisional release date was August 23, 1998 based on provisional credit days actually awarded to Petitioner through January 1991.

Effective July 6, 1992, the Florida Legislature amended Section 944.277(1) and excluded persons incarcerated for seconddegree murder from provisional release credit eligibility. The statute did not state it was to be applied retroactively.

On December 29, 1992 the Attorney General of Florida issued Attorney General Opinion 92-96. The Attorney General interpreted the 1992 amendments to the provisional release law to require the DOC to apply the exclusions in sub-sections 944.277(1) (h) and (i) retrospectively to all inmates in the custody of the DOC on July 6, 1992. In addition the Attorney General instructed the DOC to void all provisional credits previously awarded to offenders covered by sub-section 944.277(1) (h) and (i).

On May 7, 1993, pursuant to the Attorney General's opinion, the DOC applied the amended exclusions retroactively and revoked Petitioner's 420 accumulated days of provisional release credits and canceled Petitioner's provisional release date of August 23, 1998.

The DOC canceled Petitioner's accumulated provisional release credits without notice to Petitioner or opportunity for hearing by the Petitioner.

On June 17, 1993 the Florida Legislature's Safe Streets Initiative of 1994, Chapter 93-406, Laws of Florida, became effective. Section 35 of the Safe Streets Initiative of 1994, codified at section 944.278 Florida Statutes (1993), canceled all administrative and provisional credits awarded under prior statute sections 944.276 and 944.277.

Had the Petitioner's credits not been canceled by the DOC, pursuant to the Attorney General's opinion, they would have been lost due to provisions of section 944.278 Florida Statutes (1993).

Petitioner's sentence is 420 days longer than it would have been under the statute that was in force when he was sentenced as a result of the retroactive application of section 944.277(1)(i) Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992) and the passage of section 944.278 Florida Statutes (1993).

T

Additionally, Petitioner lost the opportunity to continue to earn provisional credits as he was eligible to do under section 944.277, Florida Statutes (Supp. 1988-1991) at the time he was sentenced. Petitioner would be entitled to immediate release if Petitioner had continued to accrue provisional credits through the original date of petition to this Court.

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court has jurisdiction in this case under Article V, § 3(b)(9), Florida Constitution and Florida Rule of Appellate Procedure 9.030(a)(3).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

1. Summary revocation of Petitioner's awarded provisional credits, and, revocation of future eligibility for provisional credits under the authority of section 944.278, Florida Statutes (1993) and section 944.27(1)(h), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992) violates the Ex *Post Facto* Clause of the Florida and United States Constitutions because the laws are retroactive and disadvantage the Petitioner.

The decision of the United States Supreme Court in *California Department of Corrections v. Morales*, 115 S. Ct. 1597, 131 L. Ed. 2d 588 (1995) holds that a law is *ex post facto* punishment if it lengthens the actual duration of confinement. The retroactive revocation of early-release credits lengthens the actual duration of punishment and is therefore a proscribed *ex post facto* punishment. This Court's prior decisions in *Griffin v. Singletary*, 638 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 1994) and its predecessors must be modified in light of the *Morales* ruling. Further, the Florida Statutes awarding early-release credits are not purely procedural laws, contrary to prior holdings of this Court, because they are of the same nature that this Court held makes incentive gain-time a protected, non-procedural interest. The statutes violate the *Ex Post Facto* Clause because they revoke all

awarded early-release credits which Petitioner earned by good prison conduct.

2. Retroactive application of section 944.278, Florida Statutes (1993) and section 944.27(1)(h), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992) are unconstitutional Bills of Attainder because they inflict punishment against identifiable individuals without judicial trial. The punishment is increased length of confinement. Increased length of confinement is a historical form of punishment. Also, the legislative history and intent of section 944.278, Florida Statutes (1993) and section 944.27(1)(h), Florida Statutes (Supp. 1992) show an intention to increase the duration of confinement in prison. The identifiable individuals are persons incarcerated by the Department of Corrections.

3. Respondent's summary revocation of Petitioner's awarded provisional credits without advance notice, opportunity for hearing, or written explanation violates the Due Process Clause of the Florida and United States constitutions. Petitioner has a vested liberty interest in the provisional credits already awarded him under Florida statutes. Petitioner also has a vested liberty interest in the statutes and rules controlling how provisional credits may be revoked.

ARGUMENT

Petitioner challenges two distinct actions: (1) the retroactive revocation of Petitioner's 420 days of early-release credits already awarded, and (2) the revocation of Petitioner's future eligibility for early-release credits.

ARGUMENT I: FLORIDA SECTIONS 944.278 (1993) AND 944.277(1) (Supp. 1992) ARE UNCONSTITUTIONAL *EX POST FACTO* LAWS

The United States Supreme Court vacated and remanded this case for reconsideration in light of *California Department of Corrections v. Morales*, 115 S. Ct. 1597, 131 L. Ed. 2d 588 (1995). The *Morales* decision mandates relief be given for both revocation of awarded credits, and, revocation of future eligibility to receive early-release credits.

The United States Supreme Court held in *Morales* that California's reduction in the frequency of parole violation hearings for an indeterminate life sentence did not violate the federal *Ex Post Facto* Clause. *California Dep't of Corrections v. Morales*, 115 S. Ct. at 1599, 131 L. Ed. 2d at 592. In so holding, the Court distinguished a change impacting sentence length from the frequency of California parole hearings because there was no "reason to conclude that [California's] amendment will have any effect on any prisoner's actual term of confinement...." *Morales*, 115 S. Ct. at 1604, 113 L. Ed. 2d at 599. The Court specifically found that

California's amendment "left unchanged the substantive formula for securing any reductions to [the] sentencing range." *Morales*, 115 S. Ct. at 1602, 131 L. Ed. 2d at 595. And while the Court did not state "what legislative adjustments will be held to be of sufficient moment to transgress the constitutional prohibition" against *ex post facto* laws, the Court did confirm it will determine *ex post facto* laws by whether a change in law "produces a sufficient risk of increasing the measure of punishment attached to the covered crimes." *Morales*, 115 S. Ct. at 1603, 131 L. Ed. 2d at 597 (citation and internal quotation marks omitted).

The central holding in *Morales* is increased punishment violating the *Ex Post Facto* Clause is identified by whether a change has "any effect on any prisoner's actual term of confinement." *Morales*, 115 S. Ct. at 1604, 131 L. Ed. 2d at 599. The Court clearly included all factors effecting length of confinement: "Other adjustments to mechanisms surrounding the sentencing process should be evaluated under the same standard." *Morales*, 115 S. Ct. at 1603, n.4, 131 L. Ed. 2d at 596.

To illustrate, the Court contrasted California's amendment to "the laws at issue in *Lindsey*, *Weaver*, and *Miller* (which had the purpose and effect of enhancing the range of available prison terms)" *Morales*, 115 S. Ct. at 1602, 131 L. Ed. 2d at 596. The Court reaffirmed that: "*Weaver* and *Miller* held the *Ex Post Facto* Clause forbids the States from enhancing the measure of punishment by altering the substantive 'formula' used to calculate the applicable

sentencing range." *Morales*, 115 S. Ct. at 1601, 131 L. Ed. 2d at 594. Specifically, "[t]he statute that the petitioner challenged and that we invalidated [in *Weaver*] retroactively reduced the amount of 'gain time' credits available to prisoners under this formula." *Id.* The *Weaver* decision is the binding precedent in this action.

Weaver holds that an *ex post facto* law has the two critical elements that "it must be retroactive . . . and it must disadvantage the offender affected by it." *Weaver v. Graham*, 450 U.S. 24, 29, 101 S. Ct. 960, 67 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1981) (cited with approval by *Waldrup v. Dugger*, 562 So. 2d 687, 691 (Fla. 1990)). Significantly, an *ex post facto* law need not impair a "vested right" but only increase the penalty for a crime. *Weaver*, 450 U.S. at 29-30, 101 S. Ct. 960, 67 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1981).

There is no question that Florida's revocation of the earlyrelease credits already distributed to inmates increases the actual length of confinement. Petitioner's confinement increased by 420 days. There is no question that Florida lawmakers intended for revocation of early-release credits to keep inmates in prison longer. *Op. Att'y Gen. Fla.* 92-96 (1992); Ch. 93-406, § 1, *Laws of Fla.* There remains no question, therefore, that lengthening actual confinement by revoking already awarded credits violates the *ex post facto* proscription as set forth in *Morales* and *Weaver*.

This Court previously held early-release credits were purely procedural laws outside the *ex post facto* proscription because award of the credits was not a quantifiable expectation at the time

of sentencing. *E.g., Griffin v. Singletary*, 638 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 1994) (loss of accrued administrative and provisional credits from single 1986 incident); *Dugger v. Rodrick*, 584 So. 2d 2 (Fla. 1991) (inmate excluded from earning future provisional credits based on type of offense), *cert. denied sub nom. Rodrick v. Singletary*, 112 S. Ct. 886, 116 L. Ed. 2d 790 (1992); *Blankenship v. Dugger*, 521 So. 2d 428 (Fla. 1988) (inmate excluded from earning future administrative credits based on offense); *see also, Dugger v. Grant*, 610 So. 2d 428, 430 (Fla. 1993) (reaffirming provisional credit law is procedural).

It is correct the ex post facto proscription does not apply to a purely procedural law, but "a change in the law that alters a substantial right can be ex post facto even if the statute takes a seemingly procedural form." Miller v. Florida, 482 U.S. 423, 433, 107 S. Ct. 2446, 96 L. Ed. 2d 351 (1987) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). A procedural law narrowly refers to "procedures by which a criminal case is adjudicated, as opposed to changes in the substantive law of crimes." Collins v. Youngblood, 497 U.S. 37, 45, 110 S. Ct. 2715, 111 L Ed. 2d 30 (1990). Clearly, "by simply labeling a law 'procedural,' a legislature does not thereby immunize it from scrutiny under the Ex Post Facto Clause." Collins, 497 U.S. at 46; accord, Weaver v. Graham, 450 U.S. 24, 31, n.15, 101 S. Ct. 960, 67 L. Ed. 2d 17 (1981). This Court is in agreement: "For ex post facto purposes, the question is not what name a particular form of 'credit' or 'gain time' has, but what its actual effect is." Griffin v. *Singletary*, 638 So. 2d 500, 501, n.1 (Fla. 1994).

This Court's decision in *Griffin*, and the predecessor opinions, now must be modified after the *Morales* decision.² A law is *ex post facto* under *Morales* if it increases actual duration of confinement. Revocation of 420 days early-release credits increased Petitioner's duration of confinement. That increase, whether retroactive application of section 944.277(1) (Supp. 1992) or application of section 944.278 (1993), is *ex post facto* and unconstitutional.

The *Griffin* decision should also be modified after *Morales* to restore eligibility for provisional credits. *Griffin* merits close analysis on this basis.

Griffin distinguishes a constitutional difference between gain-time and early-release credits. *Griffin* acknowledges that basic and incentive gain-time are constitutionally protected interests. *Griffin v. Singletary*, 638 So. 2d 500, 501 (Fla. 1994). *Griffin* distinguishes early-release credits from gain-time by noting credits "are not a reasonably quantifiable expectation at the time an inmate is sentenced." *Griffin*, 638 So. 2d at 501. The opinion declares credits are "in no sense tied to any aspect of the original sentence" and cannot factor into plea decisions. *Id*. The opinion

Arguably, *Griffin* is inapposite to this case. *Griffin* addresses the loss of awarded credits as a due process issue, not *ex post facto* violation. *Griffin v. Singletary*, 638 So. 2d 500, 501 (Fla. 1994). The result in *Griffin*, however, should be modified to give relief under the *Ex Post Facto* Clause.

also notes award of credits is "based solely on the happenstance of prison overcrowding." *Id.*

۰.

,

Not so. The award of credits to inmates was based on prison overcrowding, and, an inmate's eligibility for incentive gain-time. § 944.277(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988). The provisional credit statute expressly restricted eligibility to each "inmate who is earning incentive gain-time" less certain excluded categories. § 944.277(1), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1988); see also, § 944.276, Fla. Stat. (1987) (administrative credits available "to all inmates who are earning incentive gain-time ") Only inmates who obey prison eligible for rules and work are incentive gain-time. § 944.275(4)(b), Fla. Stat. (1987). Therefore, every inmate who received early-release credits was obeying prison rules and participating in work or programs.

This Court identified the inmate's compliance with prison rules and performing tasks as factors identifying a substantive right in incentive gain-time. *See Waldrup v. Dugger*, 562 So. 2d 687, 692 (Fla. 1990) (citing *Weaver v. Graham*); *see also, Raske v. Martinez*, 876 F.2d 1496, 1500 (11th Cir.) ("if the State affords its inmates such work, it is bound to reward prisoners for their services"), *cert. denied*, 493 U.S. 993, 110 S. Ct. 543, 107 L. Ed. 2d 540 (1989). An inmate conforming his prison behavior for early-release credits has a same protected interest in those credits as incentive gain-time.

Both early-release credits and incentive gain-time are tied to the original sentence to the same degree. Both laws define when an inmate is released. *Compare* §§ 921.001(10)(d), (11)(d), *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1988) (release on provisional release date) with § 921.001(11)(b), *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1988) (release on sentence expiration caused by accumulated gain-time). Both laws set maximum awards available to inmates. *Compare* § 944.277(1), *Fla. Stat.* (Supp. 1988) (provisional credits limited to 60 days per award) and § 944.276(1), *Fla. Stat.* (1987) (administrative credits limited to 60 days per award) with § 944.275(4)(b), *Fla. Stat.* (1987) (incentive gain-time limited to 20 days per month).

Credits and incentive gain-time are equally susceptible to advance prediction. Indeed, advance quantification of early-release credits has fewer uncertainties than prediction of incentive gaintime, a protected interest. First, incentive gain-time is contingent; there is no right to require the Department of Corrections to create opportunities to earn incentive gain-time. *See Pettway v. Wainwright*, 450 So. 2d 1279 (Fla. 1st DCA 1984). Second, the actual award of incentive gain-time is unknown; indeed, Respondent has near-absolute discretion in the amount of incentive gain-time awarded even if the inmate participates in earning it. *See Turner v. Singletary*, 623 So. 2d 537 (Fla. 1st DCA 1993); *Fla. Admin. Code R.* 33-11.0065 (1993) (stating factors, such as attitude, courtesy and respect). Third, incentive gain-time is awarded at the institutional level and its availability is contingent upon the availability of work

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