IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SEP 27 1995

FILED

SID J. WHITE

RUSSELL CALAMIA,

- DA 11.9.95

Petitioner,

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By _____Chief Deputy Clerk

v.

Case No. 84,088

HARRY K. SINGLETARY, JR., Secretary, Department of Corrections,

Respondent.

JEFFREY LYNN HOCK,

Petitioner,

v.

Case No. 86,182

HARRY K. SINGLETARY, JR., Secretary, Department of Corrections,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT SINGLETARY'S CONSOLIDATED RESPONSE TO <u>PETITIONER CALAMIA'S INITIAL AMENDED BRIEF</u> <u>ON PETITION FOR WRIT OF HABEAS CORPUS</u> AND TO PETITIONER HOCK'S PETITION FOR WRIT OF MANDAMUS

Preliminary Statement

I. Statement of Relevant Facts As To Petitioner Calamia.

Respondent notes that Petitioner Calamia has included in his statement of the case and facts a discussion of his negotiated plea and the representations of defense counsel relative to early release credits and "goodtime" upon which Calamia claims to have allegedly relied in accepting the plea. The Secretary of the Department is not privy to the plea proceedings and, therefore, cannot verify the authenticity of the allegations surrounding the negotiated plea. However, it is the Respondent's position, as a matter of state law, that the plea negotiations are wholly separate unrelated to and the department's administration of the overcrowding statutes and irrelevant to any determination of whether the statutes constitute a violation of the ex post facto clause, the prohibition against bills of attainder, or the due process clause, inasmuch as this Court has made clear that overcrowding credits cannot serve as a basis in deciding to enter a plea. <u>See Griffin v. Singletary</u>, 638 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 1994) (provisional credits are not a reasonably quantifiable expectation at the time an inmate is sentenced . . . [but] are an inherently arbitrary and unpredictable possibility that is awarded based solely on the happenstance of prison overcrowding provisional credits in no sense are tied to any aspect of the original sentence and cannot possibly be a factor at sentencing or in deciding to enter a plea). Therefore, while these factors may be relevant to seeking relief in the sentencing court in vacating

the plea, they have no bearing on the issues now before this Court.

The relevant facts to be considered by this Court in disposition of these issues are as follows:

Petitioner, Russell Calamia, is an inmate in the custody of the Florida Department of Corrections, presently incarcerated at Polk Correctional Institution in Polk City, Florida. Calamia was received by the department on January 22, 1988, having been sentenced on January 14, 1988 to 20 years for the offense of Second Degree Murder committed on January 2, 1986. (Exhibit A.) The sentence carried a 3-year mandatory firearm provision pursuant to Florida Statutes Section 775.087(2), which terminated on May 8, 1990. (Id.) At the time that Calamia committed his offense, Florida had in effect a statute designed to control prison overcrowding. That statute, Florida Statutes Section 944.276,²

(a) Are serving a minimum mandatory sentence under s.775.082(1) or s. 893.135;

(b) Are serving the minimum mandatory portion of a sentence enhanced by s. 775.087(3;

(c) Were convicted of sexual battery or any sexual offense specified in s. 917.012(1) and have not successfully completed a program of treatment pursuant to s. 917.012; or

² Section 944.276 provided:

⁽¹⁾ Whenever the inmate population of the correctional system reaches 98 percent of lawful capacity as defined in s. 944.598, the secretary of the Department of Corrections shall certify to the Governor that such condition exists. When the Governor acknowledges such certification in writing, the secretary may grant up to a maximum of 60 days of administrative gain-time equally to all inmates who are earning incentive gain-time, unless such inmates:

authorized the Secretary of the department to award up to 60 days of administrative gaintime, once certified to and acknowledged by the Governor, whenever the inmate population reached 98 percent of lawful capacity, equally to all inmates who were earning incentive gaintime and who were not otherwise excluded by the statute. Section 944.276, when enacted was explicitly limited to a specific period of time, expiring effective July 1, 1988. Ch. 87-2, § 2, Laws of Fla. Because Calamia's sentence was enhanced by a minimum mandatory provision pursuant to Florida Statutes Section 775.087(2) and because Calamia did not complete that mandatory prior to the effective expiration of the administrative gaintime statute, Calamia was never eligible for the allocation of administrative gaintime, in accordance with the exclusion under section 944.275(1)(b).³ Upon the effective expiration and repeal of the administrative gaintime statute⁴ on July 1, 1988, a third

⁴ The Florida legislature reviewed the administrative gaintime statute prior to its expiration on July 1, 1988, pursuant to section 2 of Chapter 87-2. Pursuant to that review, the

⁽d) Were sentenced under 775.084.

⁽²⁾ The authority granted to the secretary shall continue until the inmate population of the correctional system reaches 97 percent of lawful capacity, at which time the authority granted to the secretary shall cease, and the secretary shall notify the Governor in writing of the cessation of such authority.

³ Calamia asserts that he was eligible for administrative gaintime at the time of his conviction but for the mandatory provision. (Amended Initial Brief at 3.) Respondent disagrees. Calamia was not eligible for the award of administrative gaintime either at the time of his offense or the date of his conviction because of the enhancement provisions of section 775.087(2) and Calamia never became eligible prior to the expiration of the administrative gaintime statute.

overcrowding statute became effective. That statute, Florida Statutes Section 944.277, lowered the triggering threshold from 98 percent to 97.5 percent of lawful capacity and significantly expanded the exclusions from eligibility from the original four contained in the administrative gaintime statute to a total of seven. Calamia continued to be ineligible for early release due to prison overcrowding until expiration of the minimum mandatory provision on May 8, 1990, pursuant to section 944.277(1)(b). However, once the mandatory provision was complete, the department allocated Calamia a total of 420 days of provisional credits while section 944.277 remained in effect.⁵

In December 1992, the Attorney General was requested to issue an opinion relative to amendments made to section 944.277(1) during the 1992 legislative session. In 1992 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 092-96 (December 29, 1992), the Attorney General concluded that amendments to sections 944.277(1)(h) and (1)(i), effective July 6, 1992, excluded from early release eligibility persons incarcerated for murder or attempted murder offenses and certain crimes against law enforcement officials. The Attorney General further concluded that the Legislature intended these amendments to apply retroactively, requiring that the department cancel any provisional credits previously allocated to these offenders. Therefore, on May

Legislature decided to supplant the administrative gaintime statute with a more comprehensive overcrowding mechanism and therefore affirmed the repeal of section 944.276 effective July 1, 1988, by Chapter 88-122, § 6, Laws of Florida.

⁵ Section 944.277 was repealed effective June 17, 1993, by Chapter 93-406, § 32, Laws of Florida.

7, 1994, the department cancelled the 420 days of provisional credits previously allocated to Calamia. (Exhibit A.)

During the 1993 legislative session, the Legislature enacted Florida Statutes Section 944.278, effective June 17, 1993, which directed the department to cancel all administrative gaintime and provisional credits previously allocated to any offender who was still in custody on active sentences or to any offender who was returned to custody with sentences to which these early release credits had been allocated.⁶ Respondent notes that had Calamia's provisional credits not been previously cancelled due to the 1992 legislative amendments and the Attorney General's opinion, these credits would have been cancelled effective June 17, 1993.

II. Statement of Relevant Facts As To Petitioner Hock.

Respondent accepts the statement of facts provided by Petitioner Hock as to all paragraphs contained in the factual statement (pages 2-5) **except** paragraph 22, in which Petitioner asserts that he has not presented the claims asserted herein to this or any other court. Respondent notes that Petitioner Hock previously filed a petition with this Court in Case No. 79,438 in

⁶ Section 944.278 cancels "all awards of administrative gaintime under s. 944.276 and provisional credits under s. 944.277 . . . for all inmates serving a sentence or combined sentences in the custody of the department, or serving a state sentence in the custody of another jurisdiction. * * * Inmates who are out of custody due to an escape or a release on bond, or whose postrelease supervision is revoked on or after the effective date of this act, shall have all administrative gin-time and provisional credits canceled when the inmate's release date is reestablished upon return to custody."

1992 in which Petitioner challenged on ex post facto grounds the discontinuation of the award of provisional credits and his ineligibility for control release under Florida Statutes Section 947.146, a fourth overcrowding mechanism which supplanted the provisional credits statute in January 1991. This Court denied the petition on March 23, 1992, and Hock pursued additional relief through federal habeas corpus. In January 1995, the Eleventh Circuit Court of Appeals affirmed with opinion in Hock v. Singletary, 41 F.3d 1470 (11th Cir. 1995) the decision of the District Court for the Northern District of Florida, which denied habeas corpus relief. In the Hock decision, the Eleventh Circuit not only addressed the ex post facto challenge raised by the petitioner, but also addressed the due process issues that, although not raised by petitioner, had been ruled upon by the district court below. Although Petitioner may seek to distinguish his present claims from those addressed by the Eleventh Circuit because the present issues surround a retroactive cancellation of allocated credits and not a deprivation of future overcrowding credits, Respondent asserts that this is a distinction without a difference. The decision in Hock, supra, disposes of all of Hock's present claims.

III. Historical Background of Florida's Overcrowding Statutes

The provisional credits statute (Section 944.277) is one of several mechanisms enacted by the Florida Legislature to address the Since 1983, the State of Florida, like several other states, has enacted a series early release statutes specifically and solely

designed to alleviate an overcrowding crisis which has plagued the state prison system over the last decade. In the face of a federal court consent decree on overcrowding and delivery of health services in the Florida prison system, the Legislature opted to afford the Department of Corrections an emergency relief procedure to preclude the mass release of Florida inmates at the direction of the federal courts. <u>See Costello v. Wainwright</u>, 397 F.Supp. 20 (M.D. Fla. 1975), <u>aff'd</u>, 525 F.2d 1239 (5th Cir. 1976).

The first early release statute (Florida Statutes Section 944.598), enacted in 1983 and repealed in 1993, provided for the mandatory grant of emergency gaintime to all inmates within the prison system if the threshold of 99% of lawful capacity was reached. That statute was never implemented. See Blankenship v. 521 So.2d 1097, 1098 (Fla. 1988). Because of the Dugger, legitimate and compelling concern for public safety, the legislature enacted a second early release mechanism which was designed to be triggered prior to the emergency release statute. The administrative gaintime statute, enacted as Florida Statute Section 944.276 (1987), became operational at 98% of lawful capacity, and the emergency gaintime statute's triggering level was raised to 99% of lawful capacity. The administrative gaintime statute contained a number of exclusions which eliminated from eligibility certain types of violent or repeat offenders. <u>See</u>§ 944.276(1)(a)-(d), Fla. Stat. (1987).⁷ The administrative gaintime

⁷ Specifically, the statute excluded a prisoner serving a minimum mandatory sentence for a capital felony (§ 775.082(1)) or drug trafficking offense (§ 893.135), a prisoner serving a minimum

statute was repealed effective July 1, 1988,⁸ and supplanted with a more comprehensive early release statute which excluded more classes of violent or habitual offenders,⁹ and which provided for certain offenders a limited period of supervision after release.¹⁰

⁸ See Chapter 88-122, Laws of Florida.

⁹ The exclusions of Section 944.277(1), as originally enacted, essentially encompass a variety of minimum mandatory terms, sexual offenses, and habitual offenses. § 944.277(1)(a)-(g), Fla. Stat. (1988 Supp.). In 1989, the statute was amended to exclude murderers as well as a variety of offenses against law enforcement and judicial officers. The new exclusions were effective only for new offenses committed on or after January 1, 1990. In 1992, the legislature, through amendment, mandated that the provisional credits previously allocated to murderers and offenders committing crimes against law enforcement and judicial officers be retroactively cancelled. <u>See</u> 1992 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 092-96 (December 29, 1992); <u>Griffin v. Singletary</u>, 638 So. 2d 500 (Fla. 1994).

¹⁰ Supervision was required for any inmate serving one or more sentences of imprisonment imposed on or after July 1, 1988, and who received 30 days or more of provisional credits, unless the inmate was also serving a sentence for an offense that occurred prior to July 1, 1988. Other forms of supervision, such as community control, probation, or conditional release were substituted for provisional release supervision if such inmate was subject to one

mandatory term enhanced by s. 775.087(2), a prisoner convicted of sexual battery or any sexual offense specified under s. 917.012(1) who had note successfully completed a program of treatment pursuant to Chapter 917, and a prisoner sentenced as a habitual offender under s. 775.084.

See § 944.277, Fla. Stat. (1988 - 1992). The operational threshold for the provisional credits statute was 98% of lawful capacity. Five years ago, the legislature enacted the latest early release program, called control release, which is administered by the Florida Parole Commission, sitting as the Control Release <u>See</u> § 947.146, Fla. Stat. (1989 - 1995). The Authority. operational threshold for control release has varied between 97.5% and 99% of lawful capacity. With the exception of two effective date variations and one additional exclusion, the eligibility exclusions for control release were identical to those contained in the provisional credits statute; however, the control release program affords the Control Release Authority more discretion in establishing control release dates for early release. Cf. § 944.277, Fla. Stat. (1992 Supp.) with § 947.146, Fla. Stat (1992 Supp.). Control release is the only mechanism presently in effect to control prison overcrowding.

As the overcrowding crisis subsided and in light of the grave concern for public safety, the Florida Legislature began to narrow the categories of prisoners eligible for overcrowding release and exclusions were added to the statutes. Prisoners convicted of murder offenses were not initially among the excluded classes under any of the overcrowding statutes. In 1989, the Florida Legislature removed from eligibility for early release for overcrowding any prisoner convicted of a murder offense. § 944.277(1)(i), Fla. Stat. (Supp. 1990). However, this provision

or more of these types of supervision.

did not seek to remove earlier allocations of overcrowding credits. In 1992, the Florida Legislature reenacted the statutory exclusion for murder offenses, this time giving the provision retroactive effect. <u>See</u> 1992 Op. Att'y Gen. Fla. 092-96 (December 29, 1992). The following year, the Florida Legislature repealed the overcrowding statutes administered by the Florida Department of Corrections and mandated that all overcrowding credits previously allocated to prisoners who remained in custody be cancelled. § 944.278, Fla. Stat. (1993).

<u>Argument</u>

I. FLORIDA'S EARLY RELEASE STATUTES ENACTED SOLELY TO CONTROL PRISON OVERCROWDING ARE REMEDIAL, PROCEDURAL MECHANISMS THAT CREATE NO SUBSTANTIVE RIGHTS RELATED TO A PRISONER'S SENTENCE. THEREFORE, THE RETROACTIVE CANCELLATION OF PETITIONERS' PREVIOUSLY ALLOCATED PROVISIONAL CREDITS PURSUANT TO SECTION 944.277(1)(I), FLORIDA STATUTES (SUPP. 1992) OR PURSUANT TO SECTION 944.278, FLORIDA STATUTES (1993), DOES NOT VIOLATE THE PROHIBITION AGAINST EX POST FACTO LAWS IN ARTICLE I, SECTION 10, OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE I, SECTION 10, CLAUSE 1, OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION. [Petitioner Calamia's Argument I, pp. 9-19; Petitioner Hock's Argument IV.A., pp. 7-17.]

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